**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA**

IN THE MATTER OF THE SEARCH  
OF THE RESIDENCE AND  
PROPERTY LOCATED AT  
1731 SUNSET COURT  
GARDNERVILLE, NEVADA 89410

Supreme Court No. 81509  
District Court Case No. 2019-SW-00045  
Electronically Filed  
Oct 11 2021 01:37 p.m.  
Elizabeth A. Brown  
Clerk of Supreme Court

JAMES KOSTA,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

**On Appeal from Decision and Order of the Ninth Judicial District  
Court, Douglas County, Nevada, the Honorable Thomas W.  
Gregory, Denying Appellant's Motion For Return Of Property;  
To Unseal Search Warrant Application; And To Quash Search

**JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT**

**A. Basis Of Appellate Jurisdiction**

This Court has jurisdiction to review the Order of the District Court denying Appellant's Motion for Return of Property, To Unseal Search Warrant Application; And To Quash Search Warrant, Or In The Alternative For Protective Order ("Appellant's Motion") pursuant to NRS 179.085; NRAP 3A(a) and 3A(b)(1); and *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440 (1994).

NRS 179.085(1) provides, in pertinent part: "A person aggrieved by an unlawful search and seizure or the deprivation of property may move the court having jurisdiction where the property was seized for the return of property...." And pursuant to NRS 179.085(5): "If a motion pursuant to this section is filed when no criminal proceeding is pending, the motion must be treated as a civil complaint seeking equitable relief."

NRAP 3A(a), provides that "[a] party who is aggrieved by an appealable judgment or order may appeal from that judgment or order, with or without first moving for a new trial." And NRAP 3A(b)(1), provides that "an appeal may be taken from...judgments and orders of a district court in a civil action (which Appellant's Motion constitutes under the foregoing authorities) ...[constituting] a final judgment

entered in an action or proceeding commenced in the court in which the judgment is rendered.”

Pursuant to the foregoing authorities, the Order appealed from in this matter is an appealable “final judgment” for appellate jurisdictional purposes in that Appellant’s Motion had been filed in the District Court in the absence of any pending criminal charges arising out of the searches and seizures upon which it was based (no such charges having ever been brought to this day), and because it “dispose[d] of issues presented...and leaves nothing for future consideration of [the] court.” *Valley Bank of Nevada v. Ginsburg*, 110 Nev. 440 (1994).

## **B. Timeliness Of Appeal**

The District Court entered its Decision and Order denying Appellant’s Motion on June 11, 2020. Notice of Appeal was timely filed on July 13, 2020. And in view of this Court’s Order Removing From Settlement Program And Reinstating Briefing, entered on June 16, 2021, this Opening brief is likewise timely filed.

## **II. ROUTING STATEMENT**

Pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(12), this appeal should be retained by this Court in that this case “raise[s] as . . . principal issue[s] . . . question[s] of statewide public importance.” Furthermore, pursuant to NRAP 17(a)(11), this case should be retained by this Court in that this case “raise[s] as . . . principal issue[s] . . . question[s] of

first impression involving the United States or Nevada Constitutions or common law.”

Specifically, this matter involves the question of whether, due to the nature and breadth of information contained within modern electronic digital devices, the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, §§ 8 and 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada require that application of the “plain view” doctrine pursuant to the execution of warrants authorizing searches of the contents of such devices be precluded, or in the alternative, conducted by an independent “filtering team” in accordance with a “search protocol” delimiting the breadth of intrusion attendant to the undertaking of such searches both temporally and by subject matter in order to preclude application of, or at minimum, prevent abuses of the “plain view” doctrine.

Secondly, this matter involves the question of whether, consistent with the due process imperatives of the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, Section 8(1) of the Constitution of the State of Nevada, a citizen’s possessory interest in personal property seized by state officials, absent any related pending criminal charge or meaningful opportunity to be heard in opposition, can be deprived *ad infinitum* or for an indefinite and exceedingly lengthy period of time based upon nothing more than the mere assertion of a law enforcement

officer that a “continuing criminal investigation” is being expeditiously conducted with respect thereto.

Thirdly, this matter involves the question of whether under such circumstances a court’s refusal to order the unsealing of an affidavit in support of a search warrant denies a litigant seeking return of property seized pursuant to warrant a meaningful opportunity to review, evaluate, and be heard with respect to the facial sufficiency and sub-facial veracity of the representations contained within the supporting affidavit essential to its establishment of probable cause to justify the searches and seizures authorized by the warrant and in opposition to the continuing deprivation of his property violates the Fourth, Fifth, and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States and Article 1, §§ 8 and 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada.

### **III.**

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

##### **A.**

**WHETHER THE FOURTH, FIFTH, AND FOURTEENTH  
AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES  
AND ARTICLE 1, §§ 8 AND 18 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE  
OF NEVADA REQUIRE THAT SEARCHES OF ELECTRONICALLY  
STORED INFORMATION BE DELIMITED IN SCOPE SO AS TO  
PRECLUDE APPLICATION OR MINIMIZE ABUSES OF THE “PLAIN  
VIEW” DOCTRINE BY INVESTIGATING OFFICERS?**

**B.**

**WHETHER THE DEPRIVATION FOR AN INDEFINITE AND EXCEEDINGLY LENGTHY PERIOD OF TIME OF A CITIZEN'S POSSESSORY INTEREST IN PERSONAL PROPERTY SEIZED BY STATE OFFICIALS BASED UPON THE MERE ASSERTION THAT A CONTINUING CRIMINAL INVESTIGATION IS BEING CONDUCTED VIOLATES THE DUE PROCESS IMPERATIVES OF THE FIFTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND ARTICLE 1, SECTION 8(1) OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA?**

**C.**

**WHETHER, BY REFUSING TO ORDER THE UNSEALING OF THE AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF THE WARRANT AUTHORIZING A SEARCH OF APPELLANT'S RESIDENCE AND PERSON AND THE SEIZURE OF HIS PROPERTY, THE DISTRICT COURT DENIED APPELLANT A MEANINGFUL OPPORTUNITY TO BE HEARD WITH RESPECT TO THE FACIAL SUFFICIENCY AND SUB-FACIAL VERACITY OF THE SUPPORTING AFFIDAVIT AND THUS CHALLENGE THE CONTINUING DEPRIVATION OF HIS PROPERTY IN VIOLATION OF THE FOURTH, FIFTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND ARTICLE 1, §§ 8 AND 18 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA?**

**IV.**

**STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

**A. Nature of the Case**

Pursuant to the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States; Article I, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada; Nevada Revised Statutes 179.105, 179.085 and 179.045, Appellant James Kosta filed a Motion for Return of Property; To Unseal Search Warrant Application and

Supporting Affidavit; and to Quash Search Warrant, or in the Alternative, For Protective Order in the District Court. The basis of the Motion was to request an Order from the District Court providing Appellant's counsel with: (1) an opportunity to review and evaluate the facial sufficiency and sub-facial veracity of the representations contained in the affidavit in support of the warrant thereupon issued, authorizing a forthwith search of Appellant's person and residence, and the seizure of certain personal property belonging to him, so as to provide him with a meaningful opportunity to be heard with respect to a challenge to its establishment of probable cause to justify issuance of the warrant; and (2) an Order quashing the warrant should the District Court thereupon find that probable cause was indeed lacking. In the alternative, Appellant requested the District Court to enter a Protective Order establishing execution minimization protocols and requiring that an independent "filtering team" conduct the investigative evaluation of the materials and information seized pursuant to the warrant.

The district court ordered, without a hearing, that Appellant's Motion be denied. This appeal follows.

## **B. Course of the Proceedings Below**

On July 29, 2019, a Search Warrant was issued by the Ninth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Thomas W. Gregory, District Judge, in the matter of "The residence and property located at 1731 Sunset Court, Gardnerville, Nevada 89410,"

authorizing a forthwith search by law enforcement officers of: (1) the residence and property located at that address; and (2) the person of Appellant James Kosta; and further authorizing a forthwith seizure of certain property belonging to him. The application and affidavit submitted in support of the warrant was also thereupon ordered sealed by Judge Gregory pending further order of court.

On March 16, 2020, Appellant Kosta filed his Motion for Return of Property; to Unseal Search Warrant Application; and to Quash Search Warrant, or in the Alternative for Protective Order. And on April 9, 2020, the State filed its Opposition thereto.

### **C. Disposition Below**

On June 11, 2020, the District Court, without conducting a hearing, entered its Order denying Appellant's motion; therein stating, in pertinent part:

“The Court agrees with the State that the sealing provisions of NRS 179.045 would be meaningless if all that was required to unseal was for a party to assert a naked allegation that the search warrant was unsupported by probable cause. Upon balancing the interests of the State and Kosta and considering the nature of the investigation, Kosta has not demonstrated good cause to unseal the search warrant affidavit. Kosta has not demonstrated that the search warrant was unsupported by probable cause. Kosta is not entitled to the return of seized property pursuant to NRS 179.085(1)(c).”

(AA I, 000093-000094).

On July 13, 2020, Appellant Kosta filed Notice of Appeal.

## V.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 29, 2019, a Search Warrant was issued by the Ninth Judicial District Court, the Honorable Thomas W. Gregory, District Judge, in the matter of “The residence and property located at 1731 Sunset Court, Gardnerville, Nevada 89410,” authorizing a forthwith search by law enforcement officers of: (1) the residence and property located at that address; and (2) the person of Appellant James Kosta; and further authorizing a forthwith seizure of certain property belonging to him. (AA I, 018-022; AA I, 024); AA I, 026-035).<sup>1</sup> The application and affidavit submitted in support of the warrant was also ordered sealed by Judge Gregory pending further order of the court. Now more than two years post-search, Appellant Kosta has had no opportunity whatsoever to examine the representations contained therein for either facial sufficiency to establish either probable cause its sub-facial veracity.

According to the warrant, federal Drug Enforcement Administration Agent Miyamoto had demonstrated by affidavit that there was probable cause to believe that evidence of the crimes of Open Murder, a Category A felony, and Importation of a Controlled Substance, a Category B felony, were located on the property or within the residence owned and occupied by Appellant, located at 1731 Sunset Court, Gardnerville, Nevada, and on the person of Appellant Kosta. (AA I, 000018).

---

<sup>1</sup> References herein to Appellant’s Appendix to this Opening Brief are designated “AA.”



On July 30, 2019, Appellant Kosta received a Receipt for Property seized pursuant to its execution, describing a total of eighty-one (81) line items seized; some lines describing more than one item that had been taken. (AA I, 000037-000040).

The undersigned counsel for Appellant Kosta thereafter engaged in several e-mail and telephonic communications with Special Agent Miyamoto, the author of the supporting affidavit, (AA I, 000018), regarding the status of the property (AA I, 000037-000040) and the matter of its return. And on September 24, 2019, Agent Miyamoto sent an email to Appellant's counsel arranging for the return of a portion of the seized property. (AA I, 000042-000049). Through the association of Attorney Justin Bustos of the law firm of Dickinson Wright, counsel for Appellant Kosta were able to procure the return thereof. (AA I, 000051).

However, on or about February 18, 2020, Agent Miyamoto represented to Appellant's counsel that, although the items returned were not relevant to any "ongoing investigation," some of the electronic devices that had been seized were; and therefore, were being retained for that purpose by state and federal investigating agencies. (AA I, 000005).

Thus, on or about December 22, 2020, the office of the Douglas County District Attorney advised Appellant's counsel that all property items would be returned to Mr. Kosta except: (1) one thumb drive; (2) one MacBook Pro; and (3)

one external hard drive. (AA I, 000120). These items remain outstanding and are being retained to the day of filing this Opening Brief – 778 days thus far - by the Douglas County Sherriff’s Office as “evidence.” This despite the assertion of federal and state law enforcement officers that *they cannot access*, and are therefore unaware of, the existence of any purportedly incriminating information contained therein, allegedly due to decoding and encryption issues. (AA I, 000112; AA I, 000120). And accordingly, Appellant Kosta unsuccessfully sought return of his property by motion brought in the lower court.

Thereafter, on April 12, 2021, Appellant Kosta filed a Petition for Writ of Mandamus in the District Court, therein arguing that he was entitled to a determination by the lower court as to whether reasonable and diligent investigative efforts were in fact being made by investigating agencies to justify the continuing deprivation of the remainder of his property. (AA I, 000106-000117). However, on May 28, 2021, the District Court, without a hearing, denied Appellant’s Petition. (AA I, 000132-000135).

And now, *nearly two years after the execution of the search warrant*, these items have yet to be returned even though none of the *other* materials seized (consisting of over seventy-eight (78) items of property) have resulted in the initiation of a criminal prosecution for any offense whatsoever.

## **VI. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Appellant respectfully submits that the District Court erroneously denied his Motion for Return of Property; to Unseal Search Warrant Application; and to Quash Search Warrant, or in the Alternative for Protective Order. On information and belief, Appellant contends that the instant application and supporting affidavit fail to set forth sufficient, truthful facts and circumstances to establish probable cause to justify the seizure and continuing deprivation of his property as required by the above-cited constitutional and statutory authorities; and therefore, that this Court should enter an Order unsealing the Affidavit of Agent Miyamoto so as to enable Appellant's counsel to evaluate the representations contained therein for both facial sufficiency to establish probable cause and for sub-facial veracity, and thereby provide him with a meaningful opportunity to be heard in support of his request that the remainder of his property be returned to him. Said Order can be for attorney's eyes only, if this Court deems that necessary, so long as Appellant's counsel can discuss allegations and pertinent issues with his client to determine whether a challenge to the veracity of the affiant's sworn factual allegations and thereby assail the good faith of the process by which it was obtained and executed.

Further, and in the alternative, Appellant respectfully maintains that this Court should enter a protective order limiting both the temporal and substantive scope of any invasive examination of the information contained within the electronic devices

that remain the subject of continuing deprivation; preclude application of the “plain view” doctrine with respect thereto; require that any such examination be conducted by an independent “filtering team” pursuant to co-extensive execution protocols; and find that any further detention of Appellant’s devices will otherwise constitute both a violation of due process and an unlawful “taking” of private property prohibited by the above-cited state and federal constitutional provisions.

## VII. ARGUMENT <sup>2</sup>

---

<sup>2</sup> This Court reviews a district court's decision granting or denying an equitable remedy for abuse of discretion and deference is not owed to legal error. *Wilson v. Happy Creek, Inc.*, 135 Nev. 301, 448 P.3d 1106 (2019). As to whether the facts as found allow for equitable relief, *de novo* review applies. *Id.*

NRAP 3A(a) limits the right of appeal to “part[ies] aggrieved” by a district court's decision. A party is so “aggrieved” where the lower court enters a judgment against that party that “causes a substantial grievance, such as the denial of some personal or property right.” *Jacinto v. PennyMac Corp.*, 129 Nev. 300, 303, 300 P.3d 724, 726 (2013) (internal quotation marks omitted). A grievance is “substantial” where “the district court's decision imposes an injustice, or illegal obligation or burden, on the party, or denies the party an equitable or legal right.” *In re T.L.*, 133 Nev. 790, 406 P.3d 494 (2017).

Both the United States Supreme Court and this Court have long recognized that equitable relief is available when the moving party does not have an adequate remedy at law and will suffer irreparable injury if equitable relief is denied. *Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc.*, 504 U.S. 374, 381 (1992); *Sherman v. Clark*, 4 Nev. 138 (1868). *See also County of Washoe v. City of Reno*, 77 Nev. 152, 360 P.2d 602, 604 (1961); *State v. Second Judicial District Court*, 49 Nev. 145, 241 P. 317, 321-322 (1925).

Here, Appellant Kosta has no adequate remedy at law, and the District Court’s denial of equitable relief is a final judgment where, as here, no criminal charges are pending and no meaningful opportunity to be heard has been provided.

A.

**THE FOURTH, FIFTH, AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE  
CONSTITUTION OF THE UNITED STATES AND ARTICLE 1, §§ 8 AND  
18 OF THE CONSTITUTION OF THE STATE OF NEVADA SEARCHES  
OF ELECTRONICALLY STORED INFORMATION BE DELIMITED IN  
SCOPE; THEREFORE, THE DISTRICT COURT ERRONEOUSLY  
DENIED APPELLANT’S MOTION.**

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides: “The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons or things to be seized.” The Amendment establishes a simple baseline, one that for much of our history formed the exclusive basis for its protections: When “the Government obtains information by physically intruding” upon a citizen’s person, house, papers, or effects, “a ‘search’ within the original meaning of the Fourth Amendment” has “undoubtedly occurred.” *United States v. Jones*, 565 U.S. 400, 406 (2012).

A “seizure” of property occurs when there is some “meaningful interference with an individual's possessory interests in . . . [some type of] property.” *United States v. Jacobsen*, 466 U.S. 109, 113 (1984) (the “agents' assertion of dominion and

---

And therefore, Appellant Kosta continues to suffer irreparable injury attributable to the effectively unchallengeable deprivation of property implicated in this case.

control over the package and its contents did constitute a ‘seizure,’” 466 U.S. at 120; “the decision by governmental authorities to exert dominion and control over the package for their own purposes clearly constituted a “seizure,” *id.* at 122 n. 18). And as the United States Supreme Court pointed out in that case, absent the application of exceptional circumstances, under the Fourth Amendment, a “seizure” requires “a warrant, based on probable cause.” *id.* at 122.

The cognate state constitutional counterpart to the Fourth Amendment is embodied in Article 1, Section 18 of the Nevada Constitution. And, like both of those constitutional provisions, NRS 179.045(1) and (6)(a) also provide that warrants authorizing searches or seizures must be based upon a sworn showing of probable cause by affidavit.<sup>3</sup>

Here, the lower court erred in refusing to put in place a protective order imposing necessary protocols to appropriately limit the scope of execution and to require the employment of an independent “filtering team.” (AA I, 000004-000014). Thus, it is undisputed that the State retains three items of property seized from

---

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