## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

IN THE MATTER OF THE SEARCH OF THE RESIDENCE AND PROPERTY LOCATED AT 1731 SUNSET COURT GARDNERVILLE, NEVADA 89410, Electronically Filed
Oct 21 2021 04:14 p.m.
Supreme Court Caselinabethon. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

JAMES KOSTA

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA.

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

On Appeal from Decision and Order of the Ninth Judicial District Court, Douglas County, Nevada, the Honorable Thomas W. Gregory, Denying Appellant's Motion For Return Of Property; To Unseal Search Warrant Application; And To Quash Search Warrant, Or In The Alternative For Protective Order

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

## **Summary of Argument**

- 1. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's claim that the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and Article 1, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada and Nevada Revised Statutes required the district court to unseal the application and affidavit in support of the search warrant issued on July 29, 2019, in this case. The only legal authority Kosta presented to the district court was that a seizure of property occurred under the relevant constitutional provisions and that a warrant was required. That is uncontested by the State. However, Kosta proffered no legal authority that requires the unsealing of the court records absent a showing of good cause. Kosta further failed to provide any factual allegations to support a showing of good cause.
- 2. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's motion for return of property allegedly permitting the State to deprive Kosta of his property for an impermissible indefinite and lengthy period of time. First, the claim that the State retained Kosta's property for an impermissible period of time was never raised in the district court and should not be considered in the

first instance in this Court. Further, the State's retention of Kosta's property is in furtherance of a criminal investigation and is reasonable and not in violation of any of Kosta's rights.

3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's claim that the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and Article 1, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada and Nevada Revised Statutes require a protective order to limit the scope of execution of the search warrant. There is no authority in the State of Nevada compelling execution of a search warrant in the manner requested by Kosta. Further, the foreign cases cited by Kosta in support of his claims address Fourth Amendment issues that are not present in this case and thus those cases are of limited value here.

## **Argument**

First, as argued above, this Court lacks jurisdiction to consider this appeal. In addition to the authorities and arguments presented above, this Court has stated, "NRAP 3A(b) designates the judgments and orders from which an appeal may be taken, and where no statutory authority to appeal is granted, no right exists." *Taylor Const. Co. v. Hilton Hotels Corp.*, 100 Nev. 207, 209 (1984). Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed for lack of jurisdiction.

Next, Kosta asserts in footnote 2 of his argument that this is an action for

equitable relief. It is not. In the proceedings below, Kosta filed a motion for return of property and a petition for writ of mandamus. The motion for return of property was filed on March 16, 2020, and denied by the district court on June 11, 2020. Kosta timely appealed that order on July 13, 2020. Ten months after filing his notice of appeal, Kosta pursued equitable relief by filing a petition for writ of mandamus on April 12, 2021. That petition was denied on May 28, 2021.

Kosta did not file a notice of appeal of the district court's order denying his petition for writ of mandamus. NRAP 4(a)(1) requires that, "a notice of appeal must be filed after entry of a written judgment or order, and no later than 30 days after the date that written notice of entry of the judgment or order appealed from is served." (Emphasis added). Clearly, Kosta cannot file a notice of appeal of an order and have it apply to any order that might subsequently have been issued. In this case, Kosta had not even requested the equitable relief until 10 months after he filed his notice of appeal on the motion to return property. "An untimely notice of appeal fails to vest jurisdiction in this court." State v. Sant, 110 Nev. 748, 749 (1994).

Also, in his opening brief, Kosta alleges violations of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, §8 of the Nevada Constitution. Kosta did not allege these theories in his motion filed in district court. AA 1, 6. Kosta did not raise a Fifth Amendment claim until he filed his reply brief in district

Constitution at all in the district court. As the name suggests, reply briefs generally are to answer any matter set forth in the opposing brief, not to raise new legal theories. *Bongiovi v. State*, 122 Nev. 556, fn. 5 (2006). The State did not have the opportunity to brief these theories in the district court, nor did the district court address these theories in its order denying Kosta's motion. AA 94. "A point not urged in the trial court, unless it goes to the jurisdiction of that court, is deemed to have been waived and will not be considered on appeal." *Old Aztec Mine, Inc. v. Brown*, 97 Nev. 49, 52, (1981). For these reasons, this Court should not consider Kosta's claims based on the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article 1, §8 of the Nevada Constitution.

1. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's claim that the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and Article 1, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada and Nevada Revised Statutes required the district court to unseal the application and affidavit in support of the search warrant.

The district court did not abuse its discretion because Kosta failed to establish good cause to unseal the affidavit in support of the search warrant. In support of his request to unseal the affidavit in support of search warrant, Kosta cites to NRS 179.045(4) which states, "[u]pon a showing of good cause, the magistrate may order an affidavit or a recording of an oral statement given pursuant to this section to be sealed. Upon a showing of good cause, a court may

cause the affidavit or recording to be unsealed." Kosta then submits, "on information and belief, that the instant Application and Supporting Affidavit fails to set forth sufficient facts and circumstances to establish probable cause to justify the seizure of his property..." In support of his statement, Kosta provides this Court with absolutely nothing. Kosta filed no affidavit as was required by NJDCR 7. AA 94. Rather, through the fallacy of circular reasoning, Kosta argued that the Court should unseal the affidavit so that he might then attempt to find therein the support for his unsupported premise that probable cause for the search and seizure did not exist. NRS 179.045(4) allows the unsealing of the affidavit for "good cause," not to indulge the movant's fishing expedition. "Bare" or "naked" claims for relief, unsupported by any specific factual allegations that would, if true, entitle Kosta to relief do not entitle Kosta to an evidentiary hearing or relief. *Hargrove v.* State, 100 Nev. 498, 502 (1984).

Though the burden rested with Kosta to show good cause to unseal the affidavit, the State nevertheless provided the district court with good cause to keep the affidavit sealed. This Court has previously addressed the confidentiality of investigative reports. In *Donrey of Nevada v. Bradshaw*, 106 Nev. 630 (1990), this Court addressed the confidentiality of criminal investigative reports. The Court determined that a balancing test of the interests involved should be utilized to determine if disclosure is appropriate. *Id.* at 635-636. In *Donrey*, the Court found

that, "[t]here [was] no pending or anticipated criminal proceeding; there [was] no confidential sources or investigative techniques to protect; there [was] no possibility of denying someone a fair trial; and there [was] no potential jeopardy to law enforcement personnel." *Id.* at 636. As a result, the Court ordered disclosure of the police investigative report. *Id.* 

By contrast, the anticipation or pendency of criminal proceedings as well as disclosure of investigative techniques are factors that provide good cause for keeping information regarding a pending criminal investigation sealed and confidential. See Donrey and Reno Newspapers, Inc. v. Gibbons, 127 Nev. 873, 878 (2011). In Kosta's case, the district court had reviewed the affidavit in support of search warrant and determined that sealing was appropriate. The district court also reviewed the uncontested representations contained in the affidavit of counsel that was filed with the State's opposition, AA 70-71. In that affidavit the State asserted that the reasons for sealing the affidavit in the first place were still relevant and the affidavit should remain sealed. The district court determined that Kosta had not met his burden to demonstrate good cause to unseal the search warrant affidavit and that it was still appropriate to keep the search warrant affidavit sealed. AA 94.

NRS 179.045(4) states, "Upon a showing of good cause, the magistrate may order an affidavit or a recording of an oral statement given pursuant to this section

to be sealed. Upon a showing of good cause, a court may cause the affidavit or recording to be unsealed." Kosta failed to make a showing of good cause to unseal the affidavit in support of search warrant. The State has previously established good cause for sealing the affidavit and showed the justification for sealing the affidavit still remains. The sealing provisions of NRS 179.045 would be rendered meaningless if all that was required to establish good cause to unseal the a search warrant affidavit was for a party to assert a naked allegation that they do not believe probable cause for the search or seizure existed. For these reasons, Kosta's claim that the affidavit in support of search warrant must be unsealed should be dismissed.

# 2. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's motion for return of property.

In his motion filed in district court, Kosta claimed that there was no probable cause to justify the seizure of his property and therefore the warrant should be quashed. AA 6-8. The State did not dispute that Kosta has a reasonable expectation of privacy but argued that the search was reasonable and that a search warrant was properly obtained in this case. AA 59-60. On appeal, Kosta claims for the first time<sup>2</sup> that the State's retention of the seized property for an indefinite

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Kosta did raise this issue in his petition for writ of mandamus filed on April 12, 2021. AA 107, 112. However, as argued above, Kosta has not filed a notice of appeal in that matter.

and lengthy period of time violates his due process rights under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution and Article 1, Section 8(1) of the Nevada Constitution. This claim was not raised in in Kosta's motion for return of property, it was only raised in his petition for mandamus, the denial of which he did not appeal. This Court, "...generally will not address an issue raised for the first time on appeal." *Durango Fire Prot., Inc. v. Troncoso*, 120 Nev. 658, 661 (2004) (*citing Britz v. Consolidated Casinos Corp.*, 87 Nev. 441 (1971). This claim was not briefed in the district court, the State did not have an opportunity to address this claim in the district court, and the district court judge did not have an opportunity to make any factual findings respecting this claim. Therefore, this claim should be denied.

Nevertheless, based on the incomplete record before this Court, Kosta fails to meet his burden of showing that the district court abused its discretion. There is no question that Kosta has a reasonable expectation of privacy in his personal property located in his home. "It is a basic principle of Fourth Amendment law that searches and seizures inside a home without a warrant are presumptively unreasonable." *Brigham City, Utah v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403, 126 S. Ct. 1943, 1947, 164 L. Ed. 2d 650 (2006). "Wherever a man may be, he is entitled to know that he will remain free from unreasonable searches and seizures." *Katz v. United States*, 389 U.S. 347, 359, 88 S. Ct. 507, 515, 19 L. Ed. 2d 576 (1967). Under the

Fourth Amendment, "[w]arrantless searches and seizures in a home are presumptively unreasonable." *Howe v. State*, 112 Nev. 458, 463 157 (1996). In this case, however, there is also no dispute that the district court issued a search warrant for the defendant's home. AA 4, 57, 93.

The record indicates that the evidence seized is part of an on-going investigation of the crimes of Open Murder, a violation of NRS 200.010 through NRS 200.090, and Import of a Controlled Substance, a violation of NRS 453.321. AA 5, 18. The crime of murder has no statute of limitation. NRS 171.080. Further, the State has returned almost all of the seized property and retained only what is necessary for the on-going investigation. AA 42-49, 95, 121.

Based on the above, Kosta has not preserved this issue for appeal. Further, Kosta has failed to show that the district court abused its discretion in declining to order the return of his remaining property. For these reasons, Kosta's claim should be dismissed.

3. The district court did not abuse its discretion in denying Kosta's claim that the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States, and Article 1, Section 18 of the Constitution of the State of Nevada and Nevada Revised Statutes require a protective order to limit the scope of execution of the search warrant.

This Court has never required that a search protocol be put in place for a search of electronic media. The district court could not have abused his discretion when there is no authority requiring him to implement the search protocols that

Kosta requested. Kosta has put forth, and the State does not dispute, that a seizure has occurred in this case. The State further does not dispute that a warrant authorizing the search and seizure was required and that it had to be supported by a sworn affidavit establishing probable cause. In this case, a warrant supported by a sworn affidavit establishing probable cause was in fact, issued. AA 92-93.

Kosta cites two opinions of the United States Supreme Court, Riley v. California, 573 U.S. 373 (2014) and Carpenter v. United States, 585 U.S. \_\_\_\_, 138 S. Ct. 2206 (2018). Neither of these cases stand for the proposition that the district court was required to issue a search protocol as part of its search warrant. Rather, in these cases the Court discussed in detail the advances in technology and the amount of personal information that is accessible from cell phones and cell phone carriers. See for example Riley at 393-397 and Carpenter at 2216-2217. Riley addressed how the search incident to arrest doctrine applies to modern cell phones. Riley at 373. Carpenter addressed the applicability of the Fourth Amendment to the government's acquisition of wireless carrier cell-site records that reveal personal location information maintained by a third party. Carpeter at 2214. Further, in *Riley*, in lieu of a warrant requirement, the government proposed a rule that would restrict the scope of a cell phone search to those areas of the phone where an officer reasonably believes that information relevant to the crime, the arrestee's identity, or officer safety will be discovered. Riley at 399. The Court rejected this and held:

Our holding, of course, is not that the information on a cell phone is immune from search; it is instead that a warrant is generally required before such a search, even when a cell phone is seized incident to arrest.

. . .

Modern cell phones are not just another technological convenience. With all they contain and all they may reveal, they hold for many Americans "the privacies of life," The fact that technology now allows an individual to carry such information in his hand does not make the information any less worthy of the protection for which the Founders fought. Our answer to the question of what police must do before searching a cell phone seized incident to an arrest is accordingly simple—get a warrant.

Riley at 401, 403 (internal citations omitted). Thus, though the possibility and benefits of a rule restricting the scope of a search were argued, the Supreme Court did not impose this as part of the warrant requirement. The Supreme Court required only that a warrant be obtained. In this case, the State did exactly what was required, obtain a warrant.

Kosta asserts that the Fourth Amendment requires more. Justice Alito, in his opinion concurring in part and concurring in the judgment addressed the wisdom of courts imposing additional requirements as proposed by Kosta and stated:

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